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          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Good afternoon.

          3  Today the Subcommittee on Mental Health, Mental

          4  Retardation, Alcoholism and Drug Abuse Services will

          5  conduct an oversight hearing on employment and

          6  vocational opportunities for the mentally ill.

          7                 Let me say at the outset that, as you

          8  know, there is an unfortunate societal stigma

          9  attached to mental illness and to the mentally ill.

         10  This burden has for too long prevented too many of

         11  the public from viewing these affected individuals

         12  of possessing capability of becoming productive

         13  members of the Society.

         14                 Fortunately, we are making tremendous

         15  strides in changing the mindset. Programs designed

         16  to increase employment and vocational opportunities

         17  are growing in size and providing immensely

         18  successful in mainstreaming those with mental

         19  illness.

         20                 Today's hearing will focus on those

         21  programs offered by the City of New York and various

         22  provider organizations who provide employment and

         23  vocational training. The goal is to assess these

         24  programs and to find ways in which the Subcommittee

         25  and mental health may provide added assistance to

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            4

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  ensure the growth and continued success of these

          3  programs.

          4                 I would just like to speak to the

          5  Department of Mental Health. I know that the state

          6  has a substantial role to play in all of what we do

          7  in the City, and what I am looking for today is that

          8  broad-based partnership to ensure that all levels of

          9  persons with disability, including mental illness is

         10  accorded the greatest opportunity to become

         11  productive members of the society. And having said

         12  that, I will now take the testimony.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: Good

         14  afternoon. I am Elsie Del Campo, Deputy Commissioner

         15  for the New York City Department of Mental Health,

         16  Mental Retardation and Alcoholism Services.

         17                 With me from our Office of Planning

         18  is our Employment Specialist Ms. Alicia Piscaris.

         19                 I am pleased to have the opportunity

         20  to testify before your Subcommittee today, and to be

         21  representing the Commissioner, who is unable to be

         22  here.

         23                 In the past few years, the New York

         24  City Department of Mental Health has been at the

         25  center of new plans and innovative programs to help
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          2  people with mental illness achieve their employment

          3  objectives.

          4                 Through the efforts of the

          5  Department's Task Force on Employment and Consumers

          6  of the Mental Health system, we have learned for

          7  both psychological and economic reasons, employment

          8  is central to a consumer's health and recovery.

          9                 Earlier this year the Task Force

         10  Report released a series of recommendations

         11  reflecting the vision that work is an important part

         12  of recovery, that consumers need ongoing and

         13  comprehensive supports to achieve and sustain jobs,

         14  and that cooperative efforts among government,

         15  consumers, family members and providers are urgently

         16  needed to tackle the substantial barriers to gainful

         17  employment the consumers face.

         18                 This vision now guides the

         19  Department's employment planning and funding

         20  decisions.

         21                 The State Office of Mental Health has

         22  estimated that in New York City over 100,000

         23  residents are serious and persistently mentally ill.

         24  Compared with people with other disabilities,

         25  individuals with psychiatric disabilities have the
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          2  highest unemployment. Although most consumers want

          3  to work, the unemployment rate for this group is

          4  between 85 and 92 percent. These individuals face

          5  daunting challenges as they try to find employment.

          6                 Some of the barriers they must

          7  overcome include stigmatizing attitudes and

          8  practices, the episodic nature of mental illness,

          9  discontinuity between systems providing employment

         10  services and disincentives inherent in the Social

         11  Security system.

         12                 Years of personal turmoil, including

         13  homelessness and substance abuse, have left many

         14  people with mental illness without the basic skills

         15  needed to hold down a job.

         16                 An incomplete education hampers their

         17  employment prospects and the loss of hope and

         18  self-esteem is devastating impeding even the best

         19  efforts to join the workforce.

         20                 Because research has shown that an

         21  emphasis on pre-vocational training does not

         22  increase employment, the mental health system has

         23  moved away from focusing on work preparation and

         24  pre-job training. More and more the emphasis is on

         25  the attainment of real jobs and competitive wages
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          2  for all consumers, irrespective of employment

          3  history, skill level or educational background.

          4                 The issue is not whether people

          5  suffering from mental illness can or cannot work,

          6  but what supports are needed to achieve work.

          7                 Consumers want real work for real

          8  pay. Consequently, the emphasis of the Department's

          9  employment programs is on the regular job and the

         10  provision of ongoing comprehensive supports needed

         11  to keep a job.

         12                 How these services are delivered is

         13  critical. Employment interventions and service

         14  provision for individuals with serious and

         15  persistent mental illness differ from services

         16  designed for people with other disabilities.

         17                 Effective employment services must

         18  recognize and respond to the most prevailing

         19  characteristic of mental illness, its cyclical and

         20  unpredictable nature.

         21                 Services must be flexible and highly

         22  individualized. To help consumers fulfill their

         23  basic needs and aspirations.

         24                 In addition, these services must be

         25  provided expeditiously, with minimal eligibility
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          2  requirements and the flexibility to afford reentry

          3  without delay or additional requirements.

          4                 The Department of Mental Health is

          5  well positioned to plan and fund programs which

          6  address the particular need of mental health

          7  consumers, including individuals with co-occurring

          8  mental health and substance abuse problems.

          9                 The New York State Community Mental

         10  Health Reinvestment Program has enabled the

         11  Department to greatly expand the number and

         12  selection of employment programs for consumers with

         13  serious and persistent mental illness.

         14                 Between 1994 and 1998, 31 new

         15  employment programs have been established with an

         16  annual reinvestment allocation of $5 million. The

         17  assortment of employment programs designed to

         18  address the diverse needs of consumers at different

         19  stages in their recovery include enclaves in

         20  industry, transitional employment programs,

         21  affirmative businesses and assisted competitive

         22  employment programs.

         23                 I will briefly describe these program

         24  types.

         25                 Enclaves in Industry are programs
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          2  consisting of a small group of consumers working in

          3  local industry or businesses with continuous on-site

          4  support and supervision. Typically, five or eight

          5  people work together in an environment which is

          6  integrated and supportive.

          7                 Enclaves have been established in

          8  large supermarkets, Department stores and

          9  manufacturing companies.

         10                 The goal of transitional employment

         11  programs is to help consumers strengthen their work

         12  record and skills so that they will be able to

         13  achieve more independent employment.

         14                 These programs which were usually

         15  part of a club house give members the chance to

         16  experience different jobs for six to nine months,

         17  paying at least minimum wage.

         18                 Fifteen club houses are in contract

         19  with the Department to provide transitional

         20  employment opportunity.

         21                 The Department has also funded

         22  affirmative business programs with reinvestment

         23  allocations. These businesses consist of an ice

         24  cream franchise, a screen printing business and a

         25  book store and a gallery.
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          2                 Operated by community mental health

          3  providers, these businesses provide consumers with

          4  vocational experiences, which may otherwise be

          5  unavailable in a broader market.

          6                 Consumers can acquire transitional or

          7  long-term jobs which offer on-site training and

          8  support. Through flexible scheduling and workload

          9  management, these businesses can accommodate workers

         10  with mental illness.

         11                 Since consumers want a regular job

         12  and a regular workplace, just like anyone else, most

         13  of the newer employment programs established through

         14  reinvestment are Assisted Competitive Employment or

         15  ACE programs.

         16                 Seventeen ACE programs have been

         17  planned since 1994. This approach helps consumers

         18  choose, get and keep employment on a one-person,

         19  one-job basis.

         20                 Within the framework of a single

         21  comprehensive and individualized approach, these

         22  programs provide flexible ongoing supports at any

         23  stage of a consumer's employment.

         24                 Services for older adolescents

         25  continue to draw the attention of the Department's
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          2  planning efforts as well.

          3                 Since neither the child nor the adult

          4  social service systems are furnished to deal with

          5  the specific needs of this group, serious

          6  emotionally disturbed youth often confronts program

          7  gaps, waiting lists and inappropriate or

          8  inaccessible services.

          9                 Collaboration between the school

         10  system, the mental health system and the vocational

         11  rehabilitation system is required to address the

         12  needs of this age group effectively.

         13                 Recent reinvestment plans will result

         14  in the establishment of adolescent skills centers,

         15  with both an educational and vocational focus in the

         16  Bronx, Brooklyn, Manhattan and Queens.

         17                 Because the obstacles confronting

         18  consumers attempting to enter or reenter the

         19  workforce are so great. Consumers require assistance

         20  with employment and financial goals from as many

         21  resources as possible.

         22                 As a result the Department is

         23  identifying creative ways to ensure that support

         24  programs of various types, including housing and

         25  case management services, play a role in providing
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          2  the resources consumers need to move toward self

          3  sufficiency through employment.

          4                 In the upcoming reinvestment year, we

          5  have planned some housing programs which focus on

          6  employment by integrating an employment specialist

          7  onto a team of residential case workers.

          8                 Developments at the Department of

          9  Mental Health reflect changes in the broader

         10  community as well. The Americans With Disabilities

         11  Act has reinforced the expectation of full

         12  integration of people with disabilities into the

         13  world of work, and social reforms on the federal,

         14  state and municipal levels, speak to the capacities

         15  of all individuals to work.

         16                 To help address the employment needs

         17  of individuals with mental health problems who are

         18  receiving public assistance, the Department has

         19  partnered with the State Office of Mental Health,

         20  the Human Resources Administration and six

         21  community-based providers in two new welfare-to-work

         22  initiatives.

         23                 Working with recipients of Temporary

         24  Assistance to Needy Families, or TANF, these new

         25  programs will do more than just help people get
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          2  work. They will assist individuals with job

          3  retention and advancement through the provision of

          4  flexible and long-term support services.

          5                 Helping individuals with serious

          6  mental illness reach their employment and career

          7  goals is not a simple task. Considerable social,

          8  economic and political barriers challenge the

          9  attempt of policy advisors, planners and service

         10  providers to promote the employment of consumers.

         11                 The Department's treatment is

         12  working, public education, anti-stigma campaign

         13  graphically illustrates the value of work for

         14  individuals recovering from mental illness with

         15  posters throughout the Transit system, depicting

         16  consumers as successful and productive workers.

         17                 To promote this image and this

         18  reality, the Department will create new employment

         19  initiatives for the many New Yorkers who do not have

         20  access to adequate support. We will continue to

         21  respond to the fundamental desire of consumers, real

         22  work for real pay.

         23                 Thank you. I and my colleague will be

         24  happy to answer any questions at this time.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            14

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  much. I am going to just start my questioning in a

          3  reverse order, a few things came to mind.

          4                 You just spoke about the anti-stigma

          5  campaign on the trains and other public places, I

          6  wondered whether you are using the libraries where

          7  young people go and where at least attitudes are

          8  formed very early and I think that is one public

          9  place where education, real education takes place,

         10  and I think that, especially our public high

         11  schools, where we find many young people who are

         12  already displaying some social maladjustment, if not

         13  full-blown mental health issues, that that is good

         14  places that you may want to start, especially if we

         15  are going to do that.

         16                 No one is more aware of the hardship

         17  in not only placement but in terms of even siting

         18  and getting club houses in a community, a kind of

         19  difficulty that there is, because although people of

         20  goodwill will say you need to do something, they

         21  want something done outside of their community and

         22  outside of their domain and I just want to ask you,

         23  is there a real plan in government, in your agency

         24  to make sure that those of us who talk about fair

         25  share really believe in fair share, and that we make
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          2  a concerted effort and if that is going to be so,

          3  how will you educate all of my colleagues, because

          4  they need to be educated. You know, I don't want to

          5  be told it is your Subcommittee, you solve it. I

          6  want to hear 51 members sitting and talking to an

          7  agency about how to best get things done.

          8                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: We

          9  think one of the most effective ways to combat the

         10  stigma issue is really through the targeted way that

         11  we are doing it, especially through employment.

         12                 Your suggestions of how to reach

         13  youth, which is the next generation that is going to

         14  have opinions and values and be in a position to

         15  effect employment is very critical and very good

         16  suggestions that I will take back to our public

         17  education office.

         18                 With regard to the employment that

         19  you have spoken about, however, the employment

         20  programs that are based in club houses and

         21  highlighted the difficulties that are experienced in

         22  siting new club houses, we think the best way to

         23  combat stigma in those sectors is through hard data,

         24  which historically we have had difficulty, even

         25  though we have tried to partner with other state and
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          2  federal agencies in garnering, but which we are

          3  doing now through a number of outcome studies and

          4  through performance-based contracting.

          5                 When you can turn around to the

          6  public, to community boards and say we have these

          7  many programs operating now, here are the positive

          8  results that we have had as a result of these

          9  programs being in effect, these are the number of

         10  people that are now employed, this is the reduced

         11  number of hospitalizations, this is the increase in

         12  stable housing situations for this sector of the

         13  population. When you can turn around and produce

         14  good facts, good numbers, people will listen. It is

         15  one thing to speak instinctively about how well

         16  these programs work. It is another thing to be able

         17  to introduce data.

         18                 We are doing outcome studies not only

         19  on our club house programs, as well as our

         20  employment programs, but we are now already using

         21  performance-based contracting in the club house

         22  programs and are in the pilot phase of

         23  performance-based contracts with our employment

         24  programs as well. So, we are looking forward to

         25  being able to put out in the not too distant future,
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          2  a report on just how well the programs are doing and

          3  how well they do, and not only for the clients that

          4  participate in them, but for the community at large.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Do you have

          6  statistics, numbers of persons now productively

          7  employed with the full-time, part-time and

          8  boroughwide where they are, how do we identify

          9  successful programs and those that provide the

         10  greatest support for persons with mental illness, do

         11  you have those figures?

         12                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: I wish

         13  we had some hard core data now, but that is what we

         14  are in the process of garnering, as I said, both

         15  with the outcome study and also with the first year

         16  of employment-based contracting, we are not quite

         17  there yet.

         18                 We do have a breakout of where the

         19  club house programs are. Currently all of our

         20  employment programs serve several thousand mentally

         21  ill individuals, but we are looking to really

         22  putting together a report that is based on, as I

         23  said hard data, that will tell you where the

         24  programs are, and also how effective the continuum

         25  of programs are. Because the program types that have
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          2  been developed do not come from a one size fits all

          3  mentality, but rather are developed to really

          4  address different individuals, recognize the

          5  differences in individuals and recognize that some,

          6  while all have a desire to work, some may be more

          7  capable of higher level employment, based on the

          8  degree of their disability.

          9                 So we tried to develop programs

         10  across the board tailored for every component of the

         11  segment of the population.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Can you further

         13  describe for us the affirmative business programs,

         14  tell us where they are and how does consumers learn

         15  about them? It is under page four of your testimony.

         16                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: I

         17  wanted to be able to provide you with a good working

         18  definition of affirmative businesses, they really

         19  provide vocational assessment, training and

         20  transitional or long-term paid employment and

         21  support services. They are a less restrictive and

         22  more integrated setting than a sheltered workshop,

         23  and include mobile businesses, wholesale an retail

         24  outlets and service businesses.

         25                 Currently these programs, we have
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          2  several of these programs operating. A Ben and Jerry

          3  I think is one of the most popular and well-known,

          4  but we also have an excellent program in Staten

          5  Island that was expanded as well Specialties, it is

          6  a screening business, and a graphics program at a

          7  club house in Brooklyn, Summit House.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Okay. And also

          9  you talked about Enclaves in Industry, can you

         10  expand on those? Although you said it is a small

         11  group of consumers, to let us know how that is

         12  working and is there a possibility for expansion?

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER ELSIE DEL CAMPO:

         14  We would look to expand those programs. Currently

         15  there are three operating, one in Brooklyn, one in

         16  the Bronx and one in Manhattan, and these are for

         17  smaller groups of mentally ill consumers, usually

         18  five to eight individuals who work in an industrial

         19  or economic enterprise, either as individuals or as

         20  a crew. They also have the long-term supports built

         21  in, and this is the piece that is really critical,

         22  to help them not only maintain that job but to be

         23  able to develop a work resume, as it were, as they

         24  graduate on to more independent levels of

         25  employment.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Can you just

          3  explain to us or describe the relationship between

          4  the Department of Mental Health, the State

          5  Department, and I know I was asking someone about

          6  VESID, what is meant by VESID. Because to me always,

          7  most of the programs that we try to put together

          8  become so fragmented that you can't tell which is

          9  producing what, and if you can just describe that

         10  for us so we will have a sense --

         11                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: We

         12  interplay. We have had an opportunity at the

         13  Department to work very collaboratively both with

         14  VESID, as well as the State Office of Mental Health

         15  to state agencies, along with our sister agency here

         16  in New York, HRA, to expand vocational programs for

         17  a person suffering from mental illness.

         18                 I would like to ask Alicia Piscaris,

         19  who has been representing the Department in the

         20  meetings to help develop those programs, to speak a

         21  little bit about those.

         22                 MS. PISCARIS: Yes. You asked earlier

         23  the definition of VESID, the acronym stands for the

         24  Vocational and Educational Services for Individuals

         25  with Disabilities, and VESID is part of our State
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          2  vocational rehab service. They are mandated to

          3  provide people with a range of disabilities, with

          4  the kind of supports and training that is needed to

          5  get jobs or become educated and contributing members

          6  of society.

          7                 We, over the past two years, have

          8  begun a very close working relationship with VESID,

          9  especially the Manhattan Borough Office. We have

         10  planned some services collaboratively. We have done

         11  some service selection with each other's goals in

         12  mind. We have worked on a homeless Mica project

         13  together where the State Office of Mental Health and

         14  the City's Department of Mental Health have selected

         15  providers to offer employment services for people

         16  who have a history of homelessness, and substance

         17  abuse problems.

         18                 We have gone to VESID and asked them

         19  how they can augment what we are providing for these

         20  individuals.

         21                 We have also began to, we have began

         22  to work with the Department of Labor as a resource

         23  for jobs, which is critical in all of the work the

         24  State and City agencies are doing in moving people

         25  towards employment.
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          2                 Our relationship with HRA is a new

          3  one, especially targeted at TANF individuals with

          4  mental health problems, and unlike traditional

          5  programs, because we have identified that people may

          6  have less of a difficulty obtaining a job and people

          7  with mental illness have more of a difficulty

          8  sustaining employment, our input around the table

          9  with the Office of Mental Health has started to

         10  direct the way programs are being developed for

         11  people with mental health problems who are also on

         12  public assistance.

         13                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: If I

         14  might add, there has been a much greater emphasis in

         15  recent years, as you know, as you have been tracking

         16  and this Committee has been tracking our

         17  reinvestment efforts and reinvestment planning and

         18  program development here in New York City on

         19  employment and employment-related programs, not just

         20  for the adult mentally ill population but for the

         21  aging-out adolescent as well.

         22                 I would like to highlight that

         23  through reinvestment, all together currently the

         24  Department oversees mental health employment

         25  initiatives a total of about $22,300,000 and of that
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          2  total, about 17 and a half million dollars comes

          3  from reinvestment, regular reinvestment, the

          4  homeless Mica reinvestment and also the club house

          5  programs, many of which were either funded and

          6  developed as a result of reinvestment dollars or had

          7  their funding augmented by reinvestment dollars.

          8                 So, just that sector alone is just

          9  quite significant.

         10                 The welfare to work employment

         11  initiative has been funded to the extent of

         12  approximately $2.3 million. But it has really been

         13  reinvestment that has really been able to give us a

         14  thrust in expanding our program development efforts,

         15  as well as the, I think expanded efforts on the part

         16  of the Department to work with the sister agency in

         17  developing greater opportunities here for the

         18  mentally ill.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Can you then also

         20  describe for us the difference between the State

         21  Office of Mental Health employment programs, versus

         22  this, versus what the City is planning to do?

         23                 What I am trying to do here is see

         24  whether I can put a safety net some place some place

         25  to see who we catch?
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          2                 MS. PISCARIS: Most of us share a

          3  common goal, and that is to help people gain

          4  employment and sustain employment.

          5                 The State Office of Mental Health in

          6  partnership with VESID, has a program called

          7  supported employment. It is a very well defined

          8  program that is geared at a place and train approach

          9  to helping people get jobs and keep jobs and it is

         10  for people who are very seriously disabled.

         11                 We address the needs of those

         12  individuals as well, but in promoting individual

         13  choice and individuals' differences and in

         14  recognizing those differences, and in also

         15  responding to the most frequently articulated need

         16  of consumers and not as real work for real pay, we

         17  are putting our emphasis on any kind of program

         18  model that stresses people getting the most normal

         19  job in the most normal and integrated environment.

         20                 Now, supported employment attempts to

         21  do that as well. We have a different approach in

         22  that because reinvestment funding is flexible, it

         23  enables us to really address individual differences

         24  and keep the supports going in a very flexible

         25  nature.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            25

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 VESID does more training work which

          3  we are not involved in.

          4                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO:

          5  Additionally, we have been very involved with the

          6  State Office of Mental Health in an employment

          7  initiative that is meant to expand the provider and

          8  to really educate the provider community in the area

          9  of employment for the clients that they are now

         10  serving in their clinical and community support

         11  programs.

         12                 Through a comprehensive employment

         13  program that is coordinated by the Coalition of

         14  Voluntary Mental Health Agencies, there are a number

         15  of aspects of that program that are really expanding

         16  the knowledge of how to obtain jobs for clients that

         17  is invaluable to the agencies that are represented

         18  in the coalition.

         19                 This particular program that was

         20  funded, again through reinvestment through the

         21  Commissioner's performance fund, is targeting the

         22  development of a job resource, job resource bank

         23  that all of the member agencies can participate in.

         24  It is providing technical assistance to those mental

         25  health service providers that may be interested in
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          2  providing either training or vocational

          3  rehabilitation or employment opportunities for

          4  clients that don't really know how, and don't know

          5  how to begin.

          6                 It is an effort that is just getting

          7  off the ground. It is a program that was developed

          8  cooperatively with the State Office of Mental Health

          9  and at the input of the coalition as well,

         10  representing the broad spectrum of their community,

         11  and we think it will benefit not only the providers

         12  in terms of expanding their knowledge base on how to

         13  develop these kinds of programs, we think it will

         14  also encourage them to develop these kinds of

         15  programs and will help the consumers as a result of

         16  the jobs that will be obtained through that.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Now that you

         18  mentioned the Coalition of Voluntary Mental Health

         19  Agencies, is there any requirement attached to

         20  funding of agencies who serve the mentally ill that

         21  providing there is an opening in those agencies and

         22  there is a person being treated by them, that there

         23  be employment opportunities for that person first

         24  before an outside person, because you are there in

         25  recovery, they know how vulnerable you may or may
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          2  not be at that point in time. Because my walking out

          3  there, my working with and have gotten to know a lot

          4  of persons who are mentally ill, I find capable,

          5  well-trained, some yes may be fragile, but I am sure

          6  if you are an agency that is providing support for

          7  that individual, you should know how vulnerable and

          8  how ready they may be for employment.

          9                 Is there any way in which we can or

         10  we should, as a condition of funding, say to an

         11  agency you need to look at whom you treat first and

         12  provide them employment and support before you look

         13  on the outside for somebody who for all intents and

         14  purposes can find employment because they are not

         15  that vulnerable.

         16                 Did I get myself in trouble?

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: No.

         18  No, it's an admirable goal.

         19                 It is something that is more

         20  proactively being done with our alcoholism and

         21  substance abuse agencies and we have had a number of

         22  joint meetings with HRA and with our alcoholism and

         23  substance abuse providers with regard to encouraging

         24  them and to development elements to all of their

         25  programming, assisted by dollars that are available
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          2  to the State Department of Labor indirectly and

          3  directly through HRA to restructure their agencies

          4  to be able to provide more employment opportunities.

          5  But also in the area of mental health we would like

          6  to think we are catching up there as well. This work

          7  center program that I was describing that is

          8  coordinated by the Coalition of Voluntary Mental

          9  Health agencies.

         10                 While it's the receptacle, as it

         11  were, for jobs, we like to see agencies apply and

         12  get those jobs for the clients that are in their

         13  programs. Because as you highlighted they know best

         14  the limitations of those clients, as well as the

         15  abilities that those clients have and therein lies

         16  the better match.

         17                 We are encouraging them. The

         18  performance-based contracting will really highlight

         19  for us which are the best practices, programs and we

         20  hope through technical assistance to really

         21  emphasize those programs for development on the part

         22  of the provider community.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I am also aware

         24  that many of the persons with mental illness also

         25  receive SSI. Are there any disincentives attached to
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          2  the benefit that will keep someone from, is there

          3  some way that we can work together to convince,

          4  whether state or federal government, that if

          5  somebody is employed that their SSI not be taken

          6  from them, or is that effort already done?

          7                 MS. PISCARIS: There is an effort

          8  underway. Currently New York State is in receipt of

          9  a Social Security Administration grant. We have

         10  called the grant New York Works, then Buffalo and

         11  New York City will be pilot sites for an initiative

         12  aimed at trying to counteract the disincentives

         13  which are inherent in receiving federal disability

         14  benefits, whether it be losing a dollar for a dollar

         15  earned once above a certain level of earning over

         16  the course of a month, or threatening the loss of

         17  one's health benefits, which is critical.

         18                 Most often consumers of mental health

         19  programs have had to choose between work or health

         20  benefits.

         21                 The grant that has come to New York

         22  State will help to set up an opportunity for

         23  consumers with serious mental illness to obtain jobs

         24  with certain waivers in place where they would be

         25  able to earn more money and they would be able to
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          2  maintain health insurance which is critical to

          3  success on the job.

          4                 MR. SMITH: I had had a question about

          5  the Social Security SSI benefits but it has been

          6  clarified earlier, so I have no further questions at

          7  the present time.

          8                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: We know that

          9  now there has been a paradigm shift from the old

         10  model to the new place trained model, to what extent

         11  is the actual systems that exist out there adhering

         12  to the new model and to what extent do we have to

         13  move towards implementing the new model?

         14                 MS. PISCARIS: I will answer that

         15  question in two ways. One is the New York City

         16  Department of Mental Health has made a shift in that

         17  direction. The majority of the programs we have

         18  planned and funded since the advent of reinvestment

         19  have been programs we call assisted competitive

         20  employment programs.

         21                 Our emphasis through these programs

         22  is a supported employment approach in that we know

         23  that skills are not easily generalizable from one

         24  environment to another, so we try to find consumers

         25  jobs and then help them once they are placed in the
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          2  job.

          3                 The second piece Elsie Del Campo made

          4  reference to is the project, a work center project

          5  with the Coalition.

          6                 We have identified that there are

          7  treatment services out there and rehabilitation

          8  services and that we need to think about

          9  incorporating employment goals into treatment goals

         10  and think about what people are capable of from the

         11  get-go, also from the time they originally engaged

         12  treatment in different kind of services for mental

         13  illness, so we are trying to promote that shift. But

         14  there is a medical system out there and a

         15  rehabilitation system out there and some are a

         16  little more advanced than others in that direction.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO:

         18  Additionally I would like to add as a way of

         19  encouraging the shift and the more proactive focus

         20  on looking at getting jobs for clients, and we are

         21  asking, as you heard me mention earlier in the

         22  course of the testimony, we are focusing less on

         23  vocational training with the exception I think in

         24  the areas of the aging-out adolescent where their

         25  still needs to be a lot of work done there in
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          2  preparation for jobs.

          3                 But we are focusing more on job

          4  placement-related programs. When we develop these

          5  programs as models in the RFPs and in the negotiated

          6  acquisitions that are issued, we focus and highlight

          7  this piece.

          8                 We also make recommendations that

          9  salary levels for job placement personnel be looked

         10  at carefully. Historically they have been funded at

         11  a very low level, so you had a number of people that

         12  might have pretty much took a job directory or a

         13  want ads list and just kind of started making cold

         14  calls that way.

         15                 You have a lot of people out there

         16  now who are far better trained who have a better

         17  understanding of the population that they are

         18  referring for jobs, and you need to compensate them

         19  accordingly if you want to bring them into the

         20  non-for-profit service sector.

         21                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: You have report

         22  out which we reviewed in the Committee and it is an

         23  excellent report, it has 13 recommendations. I want

         24  to know, is there any process whereby those

         25  recommendations are going to be implemented.
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          2                 MS. PISCARIS: Some implementation is

          3  currently underway, in terms of our funding

          4  priority. Possibly five to seven of the

          5  recommendations are currently being dealt with in

          6  one capacity or another.

          7                 We just held a focus group and helped

          8  the State Office of Mental Health and VESID to set

          9  up a focus group on supported employment that refers

         10  to recommendation number six.

         11                 The way we are funding and choosing

         12  the employment services, a few recommendations on

         13  that point we have upheld.  Recommendation number 12

         14  has been implemented within the context of the work

         15  center and the coalition, so we are working towards

         16  finding ways to ensure that they become a reality.

         17                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: I

         18  would like to go back to the aging-out adolescent

         19  because it is a population that historically had

         20  been not paid as much attention to, not only in this

         21  area, but also in the establishment of community

         22  support programs and clinical programs, and so one

         23  of the pieces that we will be following up with as

         24  well is a much closer collaboration with the Board

         25  of Education, with other educational institutions,
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          2  other City agencies that work with youth, to better

          3  coordinate our efforts in terms of vocational

          4  opportunities at the development of vocational

          5  opportunities for the seriously emotionally

          6  disturbed aging-out adolescent.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: You have noticed

          8  how this team likes to work with me, they get an

          9  opportunity not just to sit here and listen to me,

         10  but they get to ask questions to help me out so that

         11  I can look good.

         12                 The Counsel has another question.

         13                 MR. SMITH: I do have a further

         14  question.

         15                 You had spoken earlier about

         16  performance-based contracting and outcome studies,

         17  when can we expect to see some of the results of

         18  those studies with the hard data? Do you have a date

         19  certain, a date in mind as to when you can provide

         20  the Committee with that data?

         21                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: We are

         22  putting together the information on the outcome

         23  study I believe on the club houses and that should

         24  be ready reasonably soon. We will be able to make

         25  that available to this Council.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Once in awhile

          3  the educator in me comes out and I get that I am a

          4  legislator, so let me ask an educators question.

          5                 Recognizing the many skills and

          6  talents that there is among people with mental

          7  illness, have you thought of a way in which we could

          8  create jobs using those who are highly skilled to

          9  start some entrepreneurial businesses that will give

         10  people with mental illness the flexibility of being

         11  able to take off when they need treatment yet come

         12  back to a job created specifically by them for them

         13  at some point in time and is that something I should

         14  be looking to fund as a demonstration model along

         15  with you, because everything I do there is a 50/50,

         16  we are not giving over on this side until you are

         17  giving over on that side.

         18                 DEPUTY COMMISSIONER DEL CAMPO: We

         19  have already actually started to develop some

         20  programming in the area of consumer run businesses

         21  and providing technical assistance to consumers for

         22  the starting of their own businesses and

         23  organizations.

         24                 Incube, an organization that I am

         25  sure you have heard of is very well known throughout
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          2  the City, is a consumer non-for-profit organization

          3  that currently is operating our technical assistance

          4  project assisting consumers in getting their 501C3s,

          5  getting technical assistance, providing technical

          6  assistance for consumers vis-a-vis how to start up

          7  businesses, how to prepare requests for grants.

          8                 They provide technical assistance in

          9  a variety of ways, including partnering some

         10  consumers with those who have already made it

         11  so-to-speak, they have started businesses of their

         12  own, and the program has been operational now for

         13  about three or four years.

         14                 It is a program model that again came

         15  about as a result of the commissioner's performance

         16  fund.

         17                 With regard to the anti-stigma

         18  campaign that we also alluded to earlier, that body

         19  is going to be putting together an advisory board of

         20  persons in industry, captains of industry as it

         21  were, who might be able not only to help tear down

         22  the stigma barriers, but may be able to help do so

         23  as well, not only by providing their knowledge and

         24  technical assistance to the various work programs

         25  that we have, but also by opening doors within the
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          2  industries that they are affiliated with, and

          3  helping us bring consumers into some organizations

          4  and businesses that historically have not hired from

          5  the mental health community.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

          7  much.

          8                 I just wanted to, as a conclusion to

          9  having you testify before me to let you know that

         10  the team that I work with that is sitting here with

         11  me, have many skills and talents, including my

         12  counsel, the policy person, the fiscal person,

         13  including my own staff member whose job is to be a

         14  liaison to the mental health community and to my

         15  Subcommittee that we would like to interface with

         16  some of what you are doing so that we have a general

         17  knowledge of the direction that you are taking so

         18  that when it is appropriate we can be supportive of

         19  it.

         20                 As you well know, I am not a Council

         21  member that likes to fight, I like to fight on

         22  behalf of those whom are to be served who are the

         23  mentally ill, rather than having a tug-o-war with

         24  you about what should be happening. If you keep us

         25  abreast of what is happening, we can have early
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          2  input and we could all be moving in the same

          3  direction.

          4                 So, again, let me thank you. We will

          5  analyze your testimony. We will look at where we

          6  think we need to position you in order to better

          7  assist the mentally ill, and I thank you very much

          8  for coming.

          9                 And I ask that you leave someone, if

         10  you have to go, to listen to the testimony of

         11  providers.

         12                 Our first witness is Mr. Kenneth

         13  Dudek from the Fountain House.

         14                 Good afternoon, and how are you?

         15                 MR. DUDEK: I am fine. How are you?

         16                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Fine.

         17                 MR. DUDEK: One thing that has just

         18  happened is that the Work Incentives Bill has passed

         19  in Washington by the House and the Senate, and

         20  probably will be signed by the President, and this

         21  affects the Social Security issue that you were

         22  asking about. It is a very favorable bill from our

         23  perspective, in terms of helping people with mental

         24  illness go back to work, particularly around

         25  extending peoples' Medicaid benefits, which is their
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          2  biggest concern, their medical benefits, and so that

          3  should proceed now.

          4                 I don't believe there is that much

          5  difference between the House and the Senate version

          6  and I am sure the President is going to sign the

          7  bill.

          8                 On VESID, I thought you might find it

          9  interesting to look at the National Alliance for

         10  Mentally Ill's report of national evoke (sic) rehab

         11  and people with mental illness as a way of getting a

         12  perspective about what their take. The National

         13  Alliance for the Mentally Ill is the family group.

         14                 Basically the short version is that

         15  they feel as though the evoke rehab agencies

         16  nationally could look at a different kind of method

         17  of funding which would be helpful and different than

         18  the one that they currently do.

         19                 Fountain House has been involved with

         20  VESID for 30 years, but I do believe that this idea

         21  of looking at the contracting system might help

         22  improve services to people with major mental illness

         23  by changing the nature of the funding structure in a

         24  way that makes it easier to work with people over a

         25  longer stretch of time.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            40

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 You also should be aware that there

          3  are eight national studies going on now sponsored by

          4  SAMSA, which is the services piece of the National

          5  Institute of Mental Health, and the eight studies

          6  are about people with mental illness and employment

          7  in particular.

          8                 Unfortunately, the information hasn't

          9  been released yet but should be released in the not

         10  too distant future, so for those of you who are

         11  seeking data, that might be a place to get some

         12  national information.

         13                 Fountain House is part of that.

         14  Fountain House itself is actually researching, the

         15  Clubhouse model and the PACT model in Worster,

         16  Massachusetts, though, we are the researchers and we

         17  are researching a version of our model, plus the

         18  program for assertive community treatment which is

         19  another model.

         20                 On the performance-based contract, I

         21  just want to support what the contract is doing on

         22  that. The clubhouses voluntarily chose to go first,

         23  I hope we don't regret that in the long-run, but I

         24  think it is still a great idea and I think that what

         25  I want to encourage is that (a) that it be followed
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          2  up on and it be used in some effective way, and that

          3  (b) other approaches to community mental health also

          4  be given performance-based contracting. Which I

          5  think is what the Department's intent is, but I just

          6  want to support that.

          7                 I also wanted to kind of, this goes

          8  about employment, employing people with mental

          9  illness in agencies, to speak to your direct point.

         10                 So there have been people working at

         11  Fountain House for probably the last 30, 40 years,

         12  who are people with mental illness who are on the

         13  staff as well as in the membership and have been

         14  forever.

         15                 And our take has been that it is a

         16  good process and an important process, but that the

         17  most important process is making sure that the most

         18  people with mental illness go to work and so that

         19  you don't want to just be hiring people for the sake

         20  of hiring them when the employment of all of the

         21  people suffers.

         22                 So, I would like to suggest that the

         23  most important outcome in any of these situations is

         24  the number of people who end up being employed,

         25  whether it is in a mental health -- excuse me,
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          2  allergies.

          3                 I believe very strongly in employing

          4  people with mental illness both within the agencies

          5  as well as out, but I believe it might be a mistake

          6  to heavily mandate that particular issue. That would

          7  be my only caution on that.

          8                 I have two other pieces which are in

          9  the regular part of my testimony.

         10                 Fountain House is actually known for

         11  developing transitional employment as a model. It is

         12  a clubhouse-based program that has been around for a

         13  number of years. But I am here today actually to

         14  talk about some of the other approaches that are

         15  coming down the pike, and I support the idea of

         16  doing more supported employment. Fountain House

         17  itself is, and actually just last week we had an

         18  international conference on the clubhouse model in

         19  Canada, at which supported employment became one of

         20  our national standards now, so all clubhouses now,

         21  both in New York City and around the world have

         22  adopted that as an approach.

         23                 I think that I believe and a lot of

         24  people believe that transitional employment is a

         25  very crucial model for people with mental illness,
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          2  but that doesn't exclude other models like supported

          3  employment and affirmative businesses.

          4                 I would say about affirmative

          5  businesses, though, part of it is that the amount of

          6  money and resources that go into setting up an

          7  affirmative business versus the results of number of

          8  people employed, and I think that whatever model we

          9  set up we should look at that, the amount of money

         10  it cost to employ one person would say, and i know

         11  from my own experience that some version of either

         12  transitional employment or supportive employment is

         13  going to be much more cost effective, but I believe

         14  for a small group of people affirmative businesses

         15  is a good way to go, and we are doing a little bit

         16  of that ourselves.

         17                 So, those are my major points.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: If you had some

         19  major recommendations you could make to the City

         20  itself in terms of its whole partnership with state

         21  and federal government from our side of the hall,

         22  what would it be?

         23                 MR. DUDEK: Well, one is that I

         24  believe that I think -- and the Departments are on

         25  this track a little bit, I think that the only
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          2  effective models that I know from research, national

          3  research that work with people with major mental

          4  illness have a support component tied in very

          5  closely with the employment piece.

          6                 If you set up an employment approach

          7  separate from the support piece, they are not as

          8  effective, and that doesn't mean you can have a

          9  system in which you have a case manager over here

         10  and you have an employment system over there and you

         11  have a complete system, it is when you have a model

         12  like either the PACT model, which has case managers

         13  in it and employment in it, the clubhouse model

         14  where you have case managers in it and employment in

         15  it, or some other version of that.

         16                 My other piece of recommendation is

         17  that don't go with the next wave necessarily. You

         18  can certainly try. There are lots of things to try,

         19  for example, there is an approach right now called

         20  IPS, and I am sorry to say it is Individual

         21  Placement and Support. Well, the reality is that the

         22  research on it is very limited, it has been done in

         23  two places, one in New Hampshire and one in

         24  Washington, D.C., and the Washington, D.C. study is

         25  a little bit shaky. And I am only saying that, and
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          2  all of this comes out of a University-based system.

          3  To take that approach and spread it Citywide or

          4  statewide based on that limited amount of

          5  information seems a little shortsighted to me.

          6                 My only recommendation was, yes,

          7  absolutely try it and then compare it, but also do

          8  some of the other approaches as well. You know, try

          9  some other versions of supportive employment, some

         10  other versions of transitional employment, try

         11  different approaches, because that really is what is

         12  going to be the most effective. Those are my two big

         13  ones: Employment with support and I also -- that is

         14  my only one, actually, yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me ask a

         16  question that Mayor Koch usually asked. How is the

         17  City doing with the mentally ill?

         18                 MR. DUDEK: I can speak about the

         19  clubhouses, because that is what I know about, and

         20  there are 15 as I saw in the Department. I believe

         21  that they need to improve all together. You know, I

         22  think that we always need to improve, including

         23  Fountain House for sure, but I think that the

         24  Department is pushing forward now with having

         25  programs be certified in terms of clubhouses, which
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          2  I believe will include the quality, as well as the

          3  performance-based contracting, which I also believe

          4  will improve the quality. I think on those two veins

          5  we will be doing fine.

          6                 I believe that this trend on the

          7  Department of Mental Health is a wonderful trend. I

          8  think that Fountain House, this is what we believe

          9  is the way to go, that work is therapy, and that

         10  work is what helps people recover. It is not the

         11  only thing but it is a crucial ingredient that has

         12  been missing for many, many years in lots of places.

         13                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: I would be

         14  interested in finding out kind of a flushing out of

         15  what these terms mean in terms of supported

         16  services.

         17                 In other words, a typical work week

         18  would include how many hours of work, how many hours

         19  of supported services. And then I realize that

         20  supported services would be different for every

         21  person on an individual basis, but what would be the

         22  kind of typical services that somebody would need?

         23                 MR. DUDEK: Well, for example, the

         24  Social Security system is about to get better, but

         25  if you are a person with a mental illness and you go
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          2  to work, you need someone to help you sort through

          3  the Social Security system as you are going forward.

          4  Because right now the minute you work even a little

          5  bit triggers an automatic review once a year. So you

          6  need somebody to help you with that.

          7                 If you are having some kind of

          8  difficulty in your just day-to-day life, either in

          9  your transportation or in your life at home or just

         10  kind of your day-to-day activities, then that is the

         11  kind of support that people help you with. They

         12  counsel you, they help you, they just give you a

         13  place to go.

         14                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: How often would

         15  a person meet with a counselor?

         16                 MR. DUDEK: Well, it depends on the

         17  model, but I believe that from my perspective they

         18  should meet with somebody every day.

         19                 In a clubhouse it is an easier thing

         20  because people can come to the clubhouse and they

         21  can see people. But in the PACT model, which I also

         22  believe is very effective, there is a way for the

         23  case manager in that case to see someone on a pretty

         24  regular basis, maybe not every day but a couple of

         25  times a week, in that they need to spend time with
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          2  people, and people need to know each other in a way.

          3                 One of the crucial pieces I think of

          4  any kind of recovery program is relationships. So,

          5  let's say you are running a separate employment

          6  program and you come to me, you are a new person,

          7  and I meet you for the first time, we don't have any

          8  kind of relationships. So, two weeks later I put you

          9  on a job and you are not doing well and all of a

         10  sudden I start to hear voices, I can't really talk

         11  to you so I have to go to my therapist over here.

         12  Well, my therapist doesn't necessarily understand

         13  about employment, nor do they want to encourage me

         14  to go to work. It is like that. So, if you can have

         15  those two functions close together, employment and

         16  support, it makes a big difference to people.

         17                 It is a complicated thing, and I am

         18  sorry, I am trying to keep it as basic as I can.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Let me thank you

         20  so very much. I have been to Fountain House so I

         21  know the history of your program and certainly your

         22  recommendations, and I will read thoroughly the

         23  testimony but I thank you for following up on some

         24  of the questions that I ask the Department and your

         25  perspective on. Thank you.
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          2                 Edward McGrath, and it is Brooklyn

          3  Mental Health Council, it is always good to see

          4  someone from Brooklyn.

          5                 MR. McGRATH: I missed the opportunity

          6  to meet you at Heights Hill Service of South Beach

          7  Psychiatric Center on Flatbush Avenue recently, but

          8  I am meeting you here.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.

         10                 MR. McGRATH: If it is okay, I will

         11  primarily read this testimony and then I can answer

         12  questions.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Yes.

         14                 MR. McGRATH: Good afternoon, Ms.

         15  Clarke, and members of the Mental Health

         16  Subcommittee, my name is Edward McGrath and I am

         17  here today representing Mr. Rick Sostechn, co-chair

         18  of the Brooklyn Mental Health Council, and the

         19  Brooklyn Peer Advocacy Project. We thank you for the

         20  invitation to speak here today regarding the issue

         21  of employment and vocational opportunities for those

         22  New Yorkers diagnosed with mental illness.

         23                 As a consumer and a provider of

         24  mental health support services in Brooklyn, I would

         25  like to make you aware of some important points,
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          2  some of which have already been made, but I hope my

          3  perspective will be helpful.

          4                 First, the population we are

          5  discussing here today, of which I am a part,

          6  consists of many, many individuals who have worked

          7  during some part of their lives and are now trying

          8  hard to return to the workforce, I have to say three

          9  of four years of not working, as in my case, perhaps

         10  shorter or even longer periods of time varies from

         11  person to person.

         12                 Now, what is it that we might need to

         13  assist in this effort? First I would say we need to

         14  get businesses to open the doors to people with this

         15  mixture of abilities and disabilities and this was

         16  addressed earlier by the folks from the Department.

         17                 There are now in existence supported

         18  employment programs with the strong emphasis on

         19  getting people back to work so that these

         20  individuals can see work -- meaning competitive

         21  employment and direct work opportunities, as opposed

         22  to sheltered workshops -- as a part of life, which

         23  can lead to financial independence, a sense of

         24  social identity, and as an important role in their

         25  community and the larger society.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            51

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2                 Along the way, some reasonable

          3  accommodations will often be needed. The most common

          4  of these is time, time to adjust to those issues

          5  involved in being back in the workforce, after an

          6  absence, and with the difficulties involved in

          7  having a mental illness.

          8                 The supported employment programs I

          9  referred to earlier will try to meet the needs of

         10  the competitive workplace; for example, by providing

         11  job training, either on-site or off-site, with the

         12  help of job coaches, sometimes referred to as

         13  training consultants.

         14                 That may go either two ways, it could

         15  either be the training place, or the place training

         16  that is referred to in some of the other literature.

         17                 An example might be the Brooklyn

         18  Mariott Hotel might let a program like NetWork Plus

         19  in Brooklyn, which is funded by New York City DMH,

         20  know what know what they need in order to fill a

         21  position at the hotel.

         22                 NetWork Plus will then provide them

         23  with someone who possesses those skills and

         24  qualities, or will train that person accordingly.

         25                 Now, once a person is able to find a
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          2  position, our experience is that they will be in

          3  need of continued support in maintaining that

          4  position.

          5                 And our experience tells us further

          6  the kind of support they need really needs to be

          7  comprehensive.

          8                 From our experience, comprehensive

          9  support for competitive employment are most

         10  successful when they include all three of the

         11  following:

         12                 The first is advocacy. Some of this

         13  was just discussed by Mr. Dudek from Fountain House,

         14  but I will read it anyway.

         15                 Advocacy is needed in terms of

         16  managing one's disability benefits, usually SSI or

         17  SSD, or both in some cases, which are subject to

         18  changes once the person returns to work and begins

         19  earning money.

         20                 Also affected might be an

         21  individual's housing subsidy. In our experience an

         22  individual will need the services of an advocate or

         23  an advocacy center in negotiating these two systems.

         24                 Lastly, the person's Medicaid and/or

         25  Medicare benefits will be affected.
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          2                 An individual on SSI will be allowed

          3  to retain his or Medicaid, as long as he or she

          4  remains disabled under Social Security's rules and

          5  makes less than, I believe the number is $28,740

          6  right now, which is actually I like that set-up, it

          7  works. Only about 4,000 people in the entire State

          8  of New York use that, but some of them are people I

          9  work with and it seems to work well for them.

         10                 An individual who is on SSD will be

         11  allowed to retain his or her Medicare for up to 48

         12  months after he or she begins working. These issues

         13  are currently moving into conference committee in

         14  the U.S. Congress, as Mr. Dudek referred to, as the

         15  Work Incentives Improvement Act, which may receive

         16  the funding, for example, to extend Medicare

         17  coverage beyond those 48 months, and also make it

         18  possible for states to allow disabled workers buy

         19  into Medicaid.

         20                 I tell you this only so that you will

         21  have an awareness of the issues that come up when

         22  people return to work. So we find that advocacy is

         23  important.

         24                 Number two, empowerment. Empowerment

         25  is perhaps, a too-often used term, in my experience.

             Legal-Ease Court Reporting Services, Inc. (800) 756-3410

                                                            54

          1  SUBCOMMITTEE ON MENTAL HEALTH

          2  What I mean by empowerment here is the ability to

          3  enable an individual to become stronger, more

          4  self-sufficient, more able to advocate for

          5  themselves, thus being able to move on from the

          6  first thing I just mentioned.

          7                 Part of this empowerment in terms of

          8  work will result in a person becoming able to access

          9  natural supports. And this is, as Mr. Dudek was

         10  talking about, addressing the questions from over

         11  here, as to how often would this person need support

         12  and how often would they be working, and so really

         13  the ideal is that they would eventually be using

         14  what we consider natural supports, as most folks who

         15  are working use, family, co-workers and friends, in

         16  their effort to maintain employment.

         17                 Finally, number three, self-help.

         18  Self-help services, which generally are probably

         19  known to most of the public through Alcoholics

         20  Anonymous and those type groups, are a proven help

         21  to those struggling with mental illness.

         22                 Specifically peer support for those

         23  who are working as a vital service. For example, at

         24  South Beach Psychiatric Center, South Beach

         25  Psychiatric Center is now providing peer support
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          2  groups for employed consumers at two of their sites

          3  and will be adding five more in the coming months.

          4                 The Brooklyn Peer Advocacy Project,

          5  which is funded by reinvestment monies, through the

          6  New York City Department of Mental Health, provides

          7  facilitation for these groups, which have been rated

          8  very successful by the employers and the consumers

          9  themselves.

         10                 I don't have any concrete data about

         11  that, but personal experience since I facilitate

         12  these groups at South Beach is that this is the

         13  case.

         14                 I have had the pleasure of

         15  facilitating the first two of these groups and

         16  witnessed their success first-hand.

         17                 At the agency that employes me, the

         18  Baltic Street Mental Health Board, in Brooklyn,

         19  these three services - advocacy, empowerment and

         20  self-help - are provided by experienced peer

         21  advocates. In our experience, peer advocates in

         22  particular can provide this kind of support because

         23  they have been through the experience of returning

         24  to work while recovering from a psychiatric

         25  disability.
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          2                 We thank the New York City Department

          3  for funding us in that way. It has provided

          4  employment opportunities for folks like myself, as

          5  well as -- I am staggered sometimes by the amount of

          6  work I see going on in our office. Not to toot our

          7  own horn too much, but Peer Services we find are

          8  very, very helpful.

          9                 We have had great success and a

         10  proven track record these past three plus years in

         11  providing these services and we will continue to

         12  provide them.

         13                 Our sister agency network plus works

         14  with us in providing these support services to those

         15  who work. They are a supportive employment model.

         16                 We feel that this way of using

         17  reinvestment funds is an excellent means of

         18  accomplishing the goal of meaningful work for all

         19  consumers who are ready and able to do such work.

         20                 Thank you very much, Ms. Clarke and

         21  members of the Committee, for your time and

         22  attention to this very important issue.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: I know I visited

         24  the South Beach Program in Brooklyn, and certainly

         25  wanted to give them credit for the kind of work that
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          2  they are doing.

          3                 Based on your experience, especially

          4  in that area of Brooklyn, can you think of some

          5  recommendations you would like to make for either

          6  expansion, improvement, and/or some other additional

          7  programs that might enhance the work that is being

          8  done?

          9                 MR. McGRATH: One thing I would like

         10  to say on that point is the reinvestment monies that

         11  come through the state, from the state to the city,

         12  I would like to see them continued. I would like to

         13  continue to see them being used in the way they are.

         14                 For instance, their funding are pure

         15  advocacy, the are funding the supported employment

         16  center, they are funding affirmative businesses,

         17  which I did not mention here, a fabric shop, which

         18  will be starting next month, a housing program. So

         19  we have a multifaceted use of these monies. I am

         20  hearing alternative uses for these reinvestment

         21  monies, I am not liking some of the things I am

         22  hearing, but I think that the advocacy -- because as

         23  was mentioned before, someone returns to work, it is

         24  hard enough sometimes to find a Social Security

         25  worker who understands what happens to your benefit
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          2  when you start working and you are on SSD or SSI,

          3  and your medical benefits is quite another matter.

          4  So, at this point in time, in any case, I think a

          5  vocal advocate for a mentally ill person to return

          6  to work is almost necessary.

          7                 I think it is cost effective. I don't

          8  think -- I mean, my personal opinion is it is good

          9  use of money, I think the evidence is there,

         10  although we probably have to come up with some more

         11  hard data to show that.

         12                 So, I would say a continuation of the

         13  funding as it is now and really I don't know in what

         14  way the council or others can effect this, but to

         15  get, you know, mainstream so-called businesses to

         16  open the doors more to us and to know that, you

         17  know, it is not necessarily going to end up in

         18  somebody getting pushed off of a subway track, that

         19  it is going to result in some good hard workers for

         20  their businesses. So that is the kind of thing that

         21  I think is important.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE:

         23                 UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER: Are there any

         24  particular places that people in your agency have

         25  been placed and any particular success stories that
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          2  have come out of that?

          3                 MR. McGRATH: Yes. I can think of

          4  several. We have a very nice arrangement with Canal

          5  Jeans, for instance, down on Canal Street. We have

          6  got people working as maintenance boarders there.

          7                 The fabric shop that we are opening

          8  next month is going to be training 30 to 40 people a

          9  year in retail, the idea being not for them to be at

         10  that fabric shop for the rest of their working

         11  career, but to be working at Macy's or places like

         12  that.

         13                 Many of our clients happen to be

         14  working within the State system, supported

         15  employment system, as customer service

         16  representatives or importer maintenance or in

         17  running thrift shops and snack bars, within those

         18  clinics and services. There are others, but I don't

         19  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Thank you very

         21  much.

         22                 MR. McGRATH: Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON CLARKE: Is there anyone

         24  else who would like to testify? Is there anyone

         25  else? Any insight?
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          2                 If there are no other witnesses, the

          3  hearing stands adjourned.

          4                 Thank you very much.

          5                 (Hearing concluded at 2:30 p.m.)
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